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Financial Results 
 
Revenue from ordinary activities for the period  
 

Down 1% to $78,329 

Loss from ordinary activities after tax for the period 
attributable to members 

 

 
Up 65% to $4,554,782 

Net loss after tax for the period attributable to 
members 

 
Up 65% to $4,554,782 

 
Dividends 
 
The Company has not paid dividends and is not proposing to pay dividends. 
 
Commentary on Results 
 

Refer to the attached audited financial statements for details on results of the 
company for the year ended 30 June 2007. 
 
Review of Operations / Product Development 
 
Medical Therapies Limited continued to make progress in fiscal 2007 to maintain and 
extend its future growth. 
 
During the year the company continued to fund the development of its core 
technologies at The University of Sydney.  Positive progress has been achieved on 
research and development. Progress on patents already filed has resulted in certain 
patents reaching national phase, and additional patents were filed during the year. 
 
The Group has signed a Heads of Agreement with the Centre for Digestive Diseases 
(CDD) for Phase 1 clinical trials of the Group’s leading drug candidate Cuprindo ™. 
The Phase 1 trials will test the drug candidate for safety and early efficacy in acute 
conditions in an open label clinical trial using topical formulations. According to the 
agreement the Group will supply its Cuprindo ™ compound to the CDD to be 
formulated for topical applications in up to three different acute inflammatory 
conditions of the gastrointestinal tract. The CDD will pay all expenses associated with 
the clinical trials including the cost of ethics committee approvals.  
 
The Group continues to actively pursue potential acquisitions in the areas of 
inflammatory conditions and certain cancers. Any such acquisitions will be biased 
towards drugs in clinical development that are available via a shares-based 
transaction. 
 
 
 



 

 
 
Significant Events Since Balance Sheet Date 
 
Since the end of the financial year on 30 June 2007 the company has completed a 
capital raising by a private placement of shares which resulted in funds received of 
$0.9m (excluding transaction costs). Funds totalling $0.6m related to this raising were 
received prior to 30 June 2007. 
 
 
 
 
Net Tangible Assets       
 As at 30.06.2007 As at 30.06.2006 
   
Net tangible assets per ordinary share  (1.96) cents 4.58 cents 
 
Other 
 
There are no entities over which control has been gained or lost during the period.  
 
There are no associates, joint venture entities or foreign entities. 
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Directors Report 
Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the 
Group)consisting of Medical Therapies Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or 
during, the year ended 30 June 2007. 

Directors 

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the period are: 
Professor Michael Vitale  
Dr Michael Taverner  
Ms Maria Halasz (appointed 16 April 2007) 
Mr Malcom Castle (resigned 18 May 2007) 
Mr Llewellyn Casbolt (resigned 15 November 2006)  
Directors have been in office since the start of the period to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated. 

Principal activities 

The principal activities of Medical Therapies Limited are the development and commercialisation 
of pharmaceutical products to treat various cancers and inflammatory diseases. 

Dividends paid or recommended 

No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the period. No recommendation for payment 
of dividends has been made. 

Review of operations 

In fiscal 2007 Medical Therapies Limited continued to make progress in commercialising it’s core 
technologies. 

Our metal NSAID technology has been advancing towards proof of concept human clinical trials 
in 2008 in a number of indications. 

The group has now rationalised it’s patent portfolio to secure intellectual property around key 
indications of interest. 

The Group has signed a Heads of Agreement with the Centre for Digestive Diseases (CDD) for 
Phase 1 clinical trials of the Group’s leading drug candidate Cuprindo ™. The Phase 1 trials will 
test the drug candidate for safety and early efficacy in acute conditions in an open label clinical 
trial using topical formulations. According to the agreement the Group will supply its Cuprindo ™ 
compound to the CDD to be formulated for topical applications in up to three different acute 
inflammatory conditions of the gastrointestinal tract. The CDD will pay all expenses associated 
with the clinical trials including the cost of ethics committee approvals.  

The Group continues to actively pursue potential acquisitions in the areas of inflammatory 
conditions and certain cancers. Any such acquisitions will be biased towards drugs in clinical 
development that are available on a share based transaction. 
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The consolidated loss of the Group for the period after providing for income tax amounted to 
$4,554,782 (2006 - $2,760,092).  This year reflects the first full year of operation for the Group.  
The 2007 loss is attributable to the following: 
• Research and development expenses of $1,125,662 (2006: $663,292) 
• Amortisation expense of $309,100 (2006 - $154,550) relating to the Group’s intellectual 

property 
• Employment benefits of $510,250 (2006: $ nil) reflecting the employment of full-time staff by 

the Group for the first time since listing 

The consolidated balance sheet at 30 June 2007 reflects cash at bank of $1.84m (2006: $2.49m). 
The Group raised funds during year by issuing convertible notes which resulted in a cash inflow 
of $1.8m (excluding transaction costs) 

Significant changes in state of affairs 

During the year the Group successfully raised $1.8 million (excluding transaction costs) in funds 
from a convertible note issue in the third quarter of this financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

The Group completed a further capital raising at $0.115 per share in July 2007 which resulted in 
the raising of an additional $0.9 million (excluding transaction costs). Funds totalling $0.6m 
relating to this raising were received prior to 30 June 2007. 
 

Except for the matters outlined above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 
2007 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 
• the Group’s operations in future financial years 
• the results of those operations in future financial years or 
• the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 

Comments on expected results of certain operations of the Group are included in this annual 
report under the review of operations. 

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected 
results of operations have not been included in this annual financial report because the directors 
believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

Environmental issues 

The economic entity’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation 
under a law of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory. 

Loss per share   

 2007 2006 

 Cents Cents 

Basic and diluted loss per share (8.18) (8.06) 
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Information on directors 

Professor Michael Vitale BA PhD MBA 
CHAIRMAN—INDEPENDENT (APPOINTED 8 MARCH 2006) 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR—INDEPENDENT (APPOINTED 16 DECEMBER 2004) 

Professor Michael Vitale researches, teaches, and consults on start-up and early stage 
companies (particularly in biotechnology), innovation and commercialisation, and IT governance.  
He is the Director, Commercialisation, at the Monash Asia-Pacific Centre for Science and Wealth 
Creation and also serves as the Chairman of the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental 
Health. 

Professor Vitale’s previous positions include Dean and Director of the Australian Graduate School 
of Management; Professor at the Centre for Management of Information Technology, Melbourne 
Business School; Foundation Professor of Information Systems and Head of the Information 
Systems Department at the University of Melbourne; Fellow at the Ernst & Young Centre for 
Business Innovation in Boston; Executive Vice-President, Information Technology and Corporate 
Services, for Prudential Insurance Company of America; and Associate Professor at the Harvard 
Business School. He was also a non-executive Director of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Australia). 

Professor Vitale is a Fellow of the Association for Information Systems and Treasurer of the 
Harvard Club of Australia - Victoria. He was previously President of the Association for 
Information Systems and a member of Council of the Australian Computer Society. 

Maria Halasz MBA 
MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (APPOINTED 16 APRIL 2007) 
 

Ms Halasz has been involved with biotechnology companies for 15 years initially working in 
executive positions in biotechnology firms, then managing funds in the life sciences sector and 
later holding senior positions in corporate finance. 
 
Prior to joining Medical Therapies Ms Halasz had been an adviser to an independent sector 
based research firm in life sciences and managed Direct Capital Group Pty Ltd, a specialist 
biotechnology fund. She has also been a venture partner at the Emerging Technology Fund of 
venture capital firm Allen and Buckeridge. 
 
Ms Halasz brings to Medical Therapies not only her science and business qualifications and 
many years of industry experience, but also her passion for the biotechnology sector.  

Dr Michael Taverner MAgricSci PhD 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR—INDEPENDENT (APPOINTED 16 DECEMBER 2004) 
 
Dr Michael Taverner is a company director and scientific consultant. He currently serves on the 
boards of and consults to a variety of companies and organisations involved in biotechnology, 
research and development, innovation and training.  
 
Dr Taverner is Chairman of BluGlass Limited, a company listed on ASX to commercialise a novel 
semiconductor technology.  Until recently he was a non-executive director of Biosignal Limited, a 
company listed on ASX to commercialise a novel antibacterial technology, and a non-executive 
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director of the Australian Rural Leadership Foundation Limited.  He has also served on the 
boards of the Rural Industries R&D Corporation and the Australian Poultry CRC.  
 

Dr Taverner also works as a technical consultant to the Australian pork industry and the 
Australian grains industry. He served for six years as Executive Director of the Pig R&D 
Corporation and before that had a long career as a research scientist. 

Information on Company Secretary 
 
Derek Bolling MBA  FCIS FCPA  
COMPANY SECRETARY/FINANCIAL CONTROLLER (PART-TIME) 

Derek has over 20 years experience in accounting and financial management including senior 
financial and information systems management positions in the banking, telecommunications, 
resources, manufacturing and medical diagnostics sectors. He has experience in the 
implementation and operation of large scale financial systems, financial management of resource 
projects, contract negotiation and change management of the finance function. 

Derek is currently a consultant in accounting and financial management to start-up companies in 
the biomedical and computer engineering fields. 

Derek holds a BBus (Accounting) from Deakin University and a MBA from the University of 
Central Queensland. He is a Fellow of CPA Australia and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries. 

Director and Audit Committee meetings 

The number of meetings of directors held during the year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director were as follows:  
 

 Board meetings Audit Committee meetings Remuneration 
meetings 

 number eligible to 
attend 

Number 
attended 

Number eligible to 
attend 

number  
attended 

Number 
eligible 

Number  
attended 

Ms Maria Halasz 3 3 - 1* - - 
Mr Llewellyn Casbolt 6 6 - 6* - - 
Professor Michael Vitale 19 19 9 9 2 2 
Dr Michael Taverner 19 18 9 9 2 2 
Mr Malcom Castle  17 17 8 8 2 2 
 
The nomination committee of the board met on several occasions during the financial year on an 
informal basis. 
 
* Attends the Audit Committee meetings by invitation. 

Retirement, election and continuation of directors 
Mr Llewellyn Casbolt resigned as a director on 15 November 2006. 
Mr Malcom Castle resigned as a director on 18 May 2007. 
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Audit Committee 

Members of the Audit Committee are Professor Michael Vitale and Dr Michael Taverner.  

Remuneration Committee 

Members are Dr Michael Taverner and Professor Michael Vitale.  

Remuneration report 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and executives of the 
Group for FY2007. The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
B. Details of remuneration 
C. Service agreements 
D. Share-based compensation 

The information provided under headings A-D includes remuneration disclosures that are 
required under Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. These disclosures 
have been audited.  

A. Principles used to determine nature and amount of remuneration (audited) 

The performance of the Group depends on the quality of its directors and executives. 

To prosper, the Group must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives. To 
this end, the Group embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 
• provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre executives 
• link executive rewards to shareholder value 
• ensure that a significant portion of executive remuneration is ‘at risk’, and therefore dependent 

on meeting pre-determined performance benchmarks 
• establish appropriate performance hurdles in relation to variable executive remuneration. 

The Board of Directors assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration 
of directors and senior managers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market 
conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention 
of a high quality Board and executive team. 

Remuneration structure 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director 
and senior manager remuneration is separate and distinct. 

Non-executive director remuneration 

Objective 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Group with the ability 
to attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, while incurring costs that are acceptable to 
shareholders. 
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Structure 

Each non-executive director receives a fixed fee for being a director of the Group.  

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the maximum aggregate remuneration of 
non-executive directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting of 
shareholders. At the general meeting of shareholders in 2005, this maximum amount was set at 
$300,000 per annum. In 2007, the Group paid non-executive directors a total of $172,811 
(2006:$112,406) including superannuation.   

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fixed fees 
paid to directors are reviewed annually. The Board considers fees paid to non-executive directors 
of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. 

Non-executive directors were also granted options on ordinary shares of Medical Therapies 
Limited on the successful ASX listing of the Company in December 2005. The details of these 
options are set out in Sections B and D below. 

The board of Medical Therapies Limited is currently actively seeking to appoint new directors 
against established selection criteria. A shortlist of candidates has now been prepared and it is 
expected that appropriate new board member(s) will be interviewed in the near future. 

Executive remuneration 

Objective 

The Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with 
their position and responsibilities within the Group and so as to: 
• reward executives for Group and individual performance against targets set by reference to 

appropriate benchmarks 
• align the interests of executives with those of shareholders 
• link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Group 
• ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

Structure 

A policy of the Board is the establishment of employment or consulting contracts with the CEO 
and other senior executives. At the time of this report this included the CEO. 

Remuneration consists of fixed remuneration under an employment or consultancy agreement 
and long term equity-based incentives that are subject to satisfaction of performance conditions.  
The equity-based incentives are intended to retain key executives and reward performance 
against agreed performance objectives.   

Fixed remuneration 

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration that is both 
appropriate to the position and competitive in the market. 

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board and the process consists of a review of 
Group-wide and individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market, and 
internal and (where appropriate) external advice on policies and practices. 
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Senior managers are given the opportunity to receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a 
variety of forms including cash and expense payment plans, such that the manner of payment 
chosen is optimal for the recipient without creating additional cost for the Group. 

Remuneration policy and performance 

A significant portion of the CEO’s remuneration is ‘at risk’ remuneration.  The CEO will receive 
certain equity-based compensation on achieving of specific Company milestones that deliver 
value to shareholders.  

B. Details of remuneration (audited) 

Details of the remuneration of the directors and key management personnel (as defined in AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures) of Medical Therapies Limited are set out in the following tables. 
Key management personnel includes the CEO. 

2007 

  
short-term benefits 

post-employment 
benefits 

share-based 
payments 

Name 
cash salary

and fees
cash 

bonus

non-
monetary

benefits
super-

annuation

retire-
ment 

benefits options Total
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Non-executive directors 
Michael Vitale (Chairman) 70,000 - - 6,300 - - 76,300
Michael Taverner 60,000 - - 5,400 - - 65,400
Malcom Castle 28,542 - - 2,569 - - 31,111
Total non-executive 
directors 158,542 - - 14,269 - - 172,811
Executive directors 
Maria Halasz (MD/CEO) 57,339 - - 5,161 - - 62,500
Malcom Castle (Interim   
CEO) 127,629 20,000 - 12,518 - - 160,147
Llewellyn Casbolt 
(MD/CEO) 250,015 - - - - (53,001) 197,014
 
Key Management 
David James 127,199 - - 10,440 - 43,685 181,324
Total Executive 
directors & key 
management 562,182 20,000 - 28,119 - (9,316) 600,985
 
Total` 720,724 20,000 - 42,388 - (9,316) 773,796
 

Mr Casbolt resigned as managing director effective from 15 November 2006. 
Mr. Castle resigned as a director effective from 18 May 2007. 
Ms. Halasz commenced employment as managing director effective from 16 April 2007. 
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2006 

  
short-term benefits 

post-employment 
benefits 

share-based 
payments 

Name 
cash salary

and fees
cash 

bonus

non-
monetary

benefits
super-

annuation

retire-
ment 

benefits options Total
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Non-executive directors 
Michael Vitale (Chairman) 33,750 – – 3,037 – 28,000 64,787
James Dominguez 
(Chairman) 28,875 – – 2,599 – 140,000 171,474
Michael Taverner 30,000 – – 2,700 – 28,000 60,700
Malcom Castle 10,500 – – 945 – – 11,445
Total non-executive 
directors 103,125 – – 9,281 – 196,000 308,406
Executive directors 
Llewellyn Casbolt 
(MD/CEO) 280,000 – – – – 133,000 413,000
Total 383,125 – – 9,281 – 329,000 721,406
Mr Dominquez resigned as chairman effective from 8 March 2006. 
Professor Vitale was appointed chairman effective from 8 March 2006 

C. Service agreements (audited) 

The CEO, Ms Halasz is an employee of the Group under an agreement signed on 5 April 2007. 
Under the terms of the present contract: 
• Ms Halasz may resign from her position and thus terminate this contract by giving six months’ 

written notice. On resignation any unvested options will be forfeited. 
• The Group may terminate the employment agreement by providing six months’ written notice 

or providing payment in lieu of the notice period (based on the fixed component of Ms Halasz’s 
remuneration).  

• The Group may terminate the contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where termination with cause occurs, the CEO is only entitled to that portion of 
remuneration which is fixed, and only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause, 
any unvested options will immediately be forfeited. 

• Ms Halasz’s employment agreement sets out certain performance incentives that are payable 
subject to achievement of specific milestones. Key milestones that trigger performance 
incentives are related to substantial and significant advances in the regulatory status of the 
technology and the formation of a Medical Advisory Board. Ms Halasz has been successful in 
forming a Medical Advisory Board post year end, as approved by the Board of Medical 
Therapies Limited. 

 
The COO, Mr James is an employee of the Group under an agreement signed on 18 August 
2006. Under the terms of the present contract: 
• Mr James may resign from his position and thus terminate this contract by giving three 

months’ written notice. On resignation any unvested options will be forfeited. 
• The Group may terminate the employment agreement by providing three months’ written 

notice or providing payment in lieu of the notice period (based on the fixed component of Mr 
James remuneration).  

• The Group may terminate the contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where termination with cause occurs, the COO is only entitled to that portion of 
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remuneration which is fixed, and only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause, 
any unvested options will immediately be forfeited. 

• Mr James’ contract does not specify any short term incentives however the Board, at its 
discretion, may decide to reward outstanding performance by Mr. James by the payment of an 
appropriate performance incentive. 

D. Share-based compensation (audited) 

Options 

The issuance of options to Directors, Executives and Key management personnel was approved 
by shareholders at a General Meeting on 29 April 2005.   

These options were granted for no consideration. The terms and conditions of the grant of options 
affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting periods are as follows: 

2007 
 Options 

Granted in 
2007 

Value of 
options at 
grant date 

Options 
 Vested in 

2007 

Value of options 
expensed in 

2007 

Proportion of 
remuneration

    ($) % 
Maria Halasz - - - - - 
Malcom Castle - - - - - 
M Vitale - - - - - 
M Taverner - - - - - 
L Casbolt – tranche 1   - - - (53,001) ** 
D James 750,000 43,685 354,167 43,685 24.1% 

 
750,000 43,685 354,167 (9,316)  

** Mr L Casbolt resigned effective 15 November 2006. 

2006  
 Options 

Granted in 
2006 

Value of 
options at 
grant date 

Options 
 Vested in 

2006 

Value of options 
expensed in 

2006 

Proportion of 
remuneration

    ($) % 
J Dominguez 1,750,000 140,000 1,750,000 140,000 81.6 
M Vitale 350,000 28,000 350,000 28,000 43.2 
M Taverner 350,000 28,000 350,000 28,000 46.1 
L Casbolt – tranche 1   1,000,000 80,000 1,000,000 80,000  
L Casbolt – tranche 2 1,000,000 85,000             - 21,350  
L Casbolt – tranche 3 1,500,000 127,000             - 31,650 32.2  

 
5,950,000 488,000 3,450,000 329,000  

The above options were granted on 5 December 2005. Directors’ options expire on 31 December 
2007. The exercise price is $0.20. The options can be exercised at any time prior to expiry, 
except while under an ASX Restriction Agreement. 

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible 
into one ordinary share of the Company. 

The Directors’ options and tranche 1 for Mr Casbolt were granted and vested at the date of the 
ASX approval of the Company’s listing. The second and third tranches of Mr Casbolt’s options 
have lapsed following his resignation on 15 November 2006.  



DIRECTOR’S REPORT  Medical Therapies Directors report 
  For the year ended 30 June 07 

   12

None of the Director or Executive options granted as share-based compensation were exercised 
during the period.   
 
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted is allocated over the period from grant 
date to vesting date. The amounts are included in the tables in Sections B and D above.  Fair 
values at grant date are determined using a binomial option pricing model that takes into account 
the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date, the 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free rate 
for the term of the option. 
 
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2007 included: 
• options are granted for no consideration 
• exercise price: $0.18 to $0.30 (2006:$0.20) 
• grant date: 2 January 2007, 26 March 2007, (2006: 9 December 2005) 
• expiry date: 31 December 2007 for Director options, 31 December 2008 for Executive options 

and up to 9 January 2009 for key management personnel. 
• share price at grant date: $0.165 to $0.235 (2006: $0.20) 
• expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 60 - 70% (2006: 60 – 70%)  
• expected dividend yield: nil% (2006: nil) 
• risk-free interest rate: 5.72 to 5.92% (2006: 5.2%) 

The employment contract with Ms M Halasz (CEO) provides for an entitlement to receive 
3,000,000 options as part of her employment with the company. These options are subject to 
shareholder approval at the next annual general meeting scheduled to be held on 28 November 
2007. 
 
No options have been granted since the end of the financial year.  

Loans to directors and executives 

There were no loans to directors or executives during or since the end of the year. 

Shares under option 

Unissued ordinary shares of Medical Therapies Limited under option at the date of this report are 
as follows: 

 Expiry Date Issue Price Number under option 

   ($) 
Listed options 31 Dec 2007 $0.20 20,166,733 
Restricted options 31 Dec 2007 $0.20 2,550,000 
Restricted options 31 Dec 2008 $0.20 1,000,000 
Restricted options 31 Dec 2009 $0.45 500,000 
Unlisted options 8 Jan 2012 $0.12 750,000 
Unlisted options 31 Dec 2008 $0.20 205,000 
Unlisted options 31 Dec 2008 $0.30 50,000 
   25,221,733 
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Shares issued on the exercise of options 

The following ordinary shares of Medical Therapies Limited were issued during and since the 
year ended 30 June 2007 on the exercise of options. No amounts are unpaid on any of the 
shares. 

 
 Issue Price Number of shares issued 

Shares issued during fiscal 2006 $0.20 585,383 
Shares issued during fiscal 2007 $0.20 46,997 

 

Insurance of officers 

During the financial year, the Group paid a premium to insure the directors and officers of the 
Group. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal 
proceedings that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Group, 
and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such 
proceedings. Policy exclusions include: bodily injury and property damage, pollution or 
contamination of any kind, and liabilities that arise out of wrongful acts by the officers that cause 
detriment to the Group. 
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Indemnification of officers 

The Group has entered into Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each of the directors 
and the Company Secretary. Each deed provides officers with the following: 
• a right to access certain Board papers of the Group during the period of their tenure and for a 

period of seven years after that tenure ends  
• subject to the Corporations Act, an indemnity in respect of liability to persons other than the 

Group and its related bodies corporate that they may incur while acting in their capacity as an 
officer of the Group or a related body corporate, except where that liability involves a lack of 
good faith and for defending certain legal proceedings, and 

• the requirement that the Group maintain appropriate directors’ and officers’ insurance for the 
officer. 

No liability has arisen under these indemnities as at the date of this report. 

Proceedings on behalf of the economic entity 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to 
bring proceedings on behalf of the Group, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Group 
is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or part of those 
proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Group with leave of the 
Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Non-audit services 

The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit 
duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Group and/or the Group are 
important. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (currently PricewaterhouseCoopers) for 
audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out below. 

The Board has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the 
Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out 
below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
for the following reasons: 
• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not 

impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor 
• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set 

out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 



DIRECTOR’S REPORT  Medical Therapies Directors report 
  For the year ended 30 June 07 

   15

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the 
parent entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 
 Consolidated 
 2007 2006 

 
$ $ 

(a) Assurance services 
  

Audit services   
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm   

Audit of financial reports and other audit work under the 
Corporations Act 2001 141,620 70,000 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm    
Audit of financial reports and other audit work under the 
Corporations Act 2001 - 20,293 

Total remuneration for audit services 141,620 90,293 

Other assurance services   
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm   

Due diligence services 10,610 107,535 
Total remuneration for other assurance services 10,610 107,535 

Total remuneration for assurance services 152,230 197,828 

(b) Taxation services 
  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm   
Tax compliance services, including review of Company 
income tax returns 26,400 20,000 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers firm    
Tax compliance services, including review of Company 
income tax returns - 12,000 

Total remuneration for taxation services 26,400 32,000 

(c) Advisory services 
  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm   
Initial public offering, other public raisings  16,500 38,500 
Strategic facilitation - 14,000 
Consulting services  27,742 - 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers firm    
Accounting and advisory services - 32,365 
Independent expert report - - 

Total remuneration for advisory services 44,242 84,865 

Total remuneration for non-audit services 70,642 116,865 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 17 
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Auditor 

PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 
 

Director 
 

 Director 

 
 Michael Vitale   Maria Halasz 

 

Dated this 31st day of August 2007 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  Medical Therapies Corporate Governance statement 
  For the year ended 30 June 07 

    18

Corporate Governance 
The Board of Directors of Medical Therapies Limited is responsible for the corporate governance 
of the Company. The Board monitors the business affairs of the Company on behalf of all 
shareholders, by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 

In establishing its guidelines and policies, the Board has been mindful of the Principles of Good 
Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations issued by the Australian Stock 
Exchange Corporate Governance Council in March 2003. The Board continued to work towards 
full adoption of the recommendations after the end of the financial year and, as at the date of this 
report, all the recommendations have been adopted.  

The board of Medical Therapies Limited is currently actively seeking to appoint new directors 
against established selection criteria. A shortlist of candidates has now been prepared and it is 
expected that appropriate new board member(s) will be interviewed in the near future. 

Below is an outline of the corporate governance policies adopted by the Board described in a 
structure consistent with the recommendations made by the ASX. The Board’s Charter is set out 
in full in the Board Operating Manual, which can be found on the Medical Therapies website 
(www.medicaltherapies.com.au) under ‘Corporate Governance’. 

Principle 1—Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

Role of the Board 

The Board of Directors is responsible to Medical Therapies’ shareholders for overall business 
performance. These responsibilities include the following: 
• improving the performance of the business through strategy and policy formulation  
• approving the annual budget, strategic plan and major operating plans 
• reviewing and providing feedback on the performance of the CEO.  (Note that M Halasz is the 

CEO and Managing Director, and that these titles are used interchangeably throughout this 
report.) 

• reviewing the performance of the Board, individual directors and committees every year 
• monitoring financial performance and reporting including half-year and full-year financial 

reports and quarterly cash-flow statements 
• determining policies and ensuring adequate procedures are in place to manage the identified 

risks 
• ensuring the Board sub-committees are appropriately constituted and performing their 

functions 
• appointment and accountabilities of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, 

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. 

Role of management 

The Chief Executive Officer and senior management are responsible for:  
• formulating, with the Board, the corporate strategy, performance objectives, business plans 

and budgets 
• providing leadership, appointing and negotiating terms of employment of senior executives 

(with Board approval where necessary), developing a succession plan, and ensuring 
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procedures are in place for education and training to enable compliance with laws and 
policies 

• bringing all matters requiring review or approval to the Board, advising on the changes in risk 
profile, providing certification regarding the financial statements for the half year and full year, 
reporting on the Company’s performance to the Board on a monthly basis, and aiding 
education of directors on relevant matters 

• management of the business and implementation of strategy within the context of the Board-
approved budget. 

Principle 2—Structure the Board to add value 

Composition and balance of skills of directors 

The Board considers that the number of directors at any time and the composition of the Board 
are critical for the success of the Company. It is acknowledged that these aspects could vary from 
time to time depending on the circumstances of the Company. 

The total number of directors permitted by the constitution is not less than three, nor more than 
nine. The Board considers that the appropriate number in the foreseeable future will range from 
four to seven and such number will be determined by the directors. The shareholders in General 
Meeting, may increase or decrease the total number of directors in accordance with the 
Constitution (Rule 13.1). 

The Board will comprise a variety of persons with diverse sets of skills and experience relevant to 
the Company and the circumstances at the time. 

The Board will review its composition from time to time having regard to the requirements of the 
Company. 

The board of Medical Therapies Limited is currently actively seeking to appoint new directors 
against established selection criteria. A shortlist of candidates has now been prepared and it is 
expected that appropriate new board member(s) will be interviewed in the near future. 

The Chief Executive Officer will be a director of the Company and will also have the title of 
Managing Director. 

Independence of directors 

The Board believes that the best interests of the Company are served if: 
• a majority of the directors are independent, as defined in the ASX Corporate Governance 

Guidelines, and 
• the Chairman is an independent director, and therefore, not also the CEO. 

The Board will review annually, and as circumstances determine, whether or not each director is 
independent. This will include the determination of materiality thresholds for each director and for 
each particular circumstance, as necessary. The outcome of this determination will be disclosed 
in the Annual Report. 

Where a director has a material personal interest in a matter and, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Corporations Law, the director is not present when the matter is discussed and 
does not vote on the matter, or the non-interested directors resolve to allow the director to 
participate, then the Board considers that these circumstances alone may not jeopardise a 
director’s independence. 
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The Board believes that, over time, a renewal of members of the Board is beneficial to the 
ongoing vitality of the Company. This policy does not apply to the CEO. 

Appointment of directors 

In the circumstances where the Board believes there is a need to appoint another director, 
whether due to retirement of a director, growth of the Company, changed circumstances of the 
Company or its environment, certain procedures will be followed, including the following: 
• determine the skills and experience appropriate for the appointee having regard to those of 

the existing directors and any other likely changes to the Board 
• agree the process for seeking such a person 
• set a timetable for completion having regard to the date of the AGM and finalisation of the 

Notice of AGM and whether the person will be appointed prior to the AGM or the person’s 
nomination will first be put to the AGM 

• prepare a short list of candidates after rigorously assessing the candidates on a number of 
criteria including competencies, qualifications, independence, other directorships etc. 

The Board will meet the preferred candidate(s) and make an appointment, for ratification by the 
shareholders, as appropriate.  

The Board’s Nomination Committee consists of Dr Michael Taverner (Chair) and Professor 
Michael Vitale.  

The board of Medical Therapies Limited is currently actively seeking to appoint new directors 
against established selection criteria. A shortlist of candidates has now been prepared and it is 
expected that appropriate new board member(s) will be interviewed in the near future. 

Access to independent advice 

Directors may obtain independent experts’ advice to enable them to fulfil their obligations, at the 
expense of the Company and after obtaining approval of the Chairman. 
 
The Chairman will: 
• ensure that the nature of the advice being sought is appropriate, the party from whom the 

advice is to be sought has no conflict with the Company and the basis of charge is 
reasonable, and 

• approve for payment all invoices in relation to the advice. 

Although this Policy was available to directors, it was not used during the year to 30 June 2007.  

Principle 3—Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 

Directors have a fiduciary relationship with the shareholders of Medical Therapies. Directors are 
expected to exercise skills commensurate with their level of knowledge and experience to 
increase the value of the Company. Each director must endeavour to ensure that the Company is 
properly managed so as to protect and enhance the shareholders’ interests. 

To meet this obligation, directors must act honestly and should: 
• at all times exercise due care in their duties 
• be diligent, attend Board meetings and make themselves knowledgeable about the business 

of the Company and the physical and social environment in which it operates 
• not use their position or information for personal gain 
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• ensure that the shareholders and the stock market are informed of all material matters that 
require disclosure, in accordance with ASX Listing Rules 

• avoid or fully disclose conflicts of interest 
• be impartial in their judgements and actions. 

Directors should ensure they can give sufficient time and attention to detail so as to properly fulfil 
the duties of directors. 

No director will conduct himself or herself in a way that brings or may bring the Company or the 
name of the Company into disrepute. 

At all times a director must be able to act in the interests of the Company. Where the interests of 
the director or the director’s family or associates conflict with those of the Company, the director 
must immediately disclose such conflict and either: 
• eliminate the conflict, or 
• abstain from participation in any discussion or decision-making process in relation to the 

subject matter of the conflict, or 
• in exceptional circumstances, consider resignation. 

Executive directors must always be alert to the potential for conflict of interest between 
management interests and their fiduciary duty as directors. 

Directors should refrain from voting their shares at any general meeting on any matter in the 
outcome of which they or their associates have a special beneficial interest. 

Directors must comply with the provisions of the Australian Corporations Law relating to 
disclosure of directors’ benefits and related party transactions. 

To enable all directors, but particularly non-executive directors, to be fully effective, they must 
have full access to all relevant information. In the case of matters to be considered by the Board, 
directors must insist that full details are made available to them in sufficient time to allow proper 
consideration. 

In becoming informed of the Company’s affairs, the directors must have regard for the integrity of 
management’s functions and responsibilities. In particular, no director, acting individually, shall: 
• require any action by an officer of the Company in connection with the business of the 

Company, except as authorised by the Board or as requested by the CEO, or  
• require or request any information concerning the Company from any officer, except where 

such information is necessary or appropriate for the discharge by that director of his or her 
duties as a member of the Board or in exercise of any power or authority delegated to him or 
her by the Board. Where any director requires information regarding the Company (unless it 
would be impractical or inappropriate to do so), it is expected that the director inform the 
Chairman, another director or the CEO of the request. 

Directors must ensure that when expert advice is sought it comes from suitably qualified sources. 
Auditors and other experts must not be subjected to pressure to produce results deemed 
appropriate by management or the Board. 

Directors must ensure that strict confidentiality is maintained in relation to all Company matters. 

Directors are required to ensure that information in their possession that would affect the price of 
the Company’s securities is transmitted only to those with a need to know for the proper 
discharge of their duties on behalf of the Company. Such information includes, but is not limited 
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to, financial results, profit forecasts, proposed share issues, borrowings, impending takeovers, 
acquisitions, mergers, reconstructions, litigation etc. 

Directors are to ensure that the accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Australian 
Corporations Law and approved accounting standards. 

Directors should make reasonable endeavours to ensure that the Company gives proper 
consideration to: 
• the impact on the environment of the Company’s activities and proposed activities and that 

the Company observes its obligations in respect of environmental practices 
• matters affecting the health, safety and general wellbeing of the employees.  

Where permitted by law, each director of the Company will enter into a deed of access, indemnity 
and insurance in the form approved (or to be approved) by shareholders. 

To ensure that clear, consistent and appropriate information is given to regulatory bodies and the 
media the Chairman and the CEO are the only Officers authorised to speak to the media. 

Policy regarding trading in securities 
 
Directors are specifically prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities, except during the 
following trading windows during the calendar year which commence 24 hours after the relevant 
announcement or event: 
• Half-Year announcement – six weeks 
• 31 March Quarter announcement – six weeks 
• Full Year announcement – six weeks 
• Extraordinary General Meeting – six weeks, subject to compliance with other restrictions  
• Annual General Meeting – six weeks 
• 30 September Quarter announcement – six weeks.  

 
However, the following prohibition overrides these trading windows, when applicable. 

 
Dealings are not to take place for a certain period before important announcements that are likely 
to affect the market price. It is difficult to establish a fixed period in respect of the prohibition. In 
principle this prohibition would start to run from the point at which the likelihood of an 
announcement ultimately being necessary becomes a reasonable probability. This particular 
prohibition also extends to any potential target companies where there is sufficient evidence to 
believe that the group may have intentions of acquiring a shareholding. 
 
The Board should be formally informed of all dealings by directors in the Company’s securities. 
 
A Director is not to deal in the Company’s securities without first notifying the Chairman directly or 
via the Company Secretary of their intention to deal and should only proceed after receiving due 
acknowledgment. A record of this notification should be maintained and acknowledgment in 
writing given to the directors by the Company Secretary. For the purposes of this policy, 
securities means either listed or unlisted securities and includes shares, options (including 
exchange-traded options), convertible securities, and any right to subscribe for, call for or make 
delivery of a share or convertible security. 
 
The acquisition of shares or options acquired pursuant to an employee share or option plan and 
the acquisiton of securities through exercising rights to securities or through conversion of 
convertible securities are specifically excluded from this definition. This exclusion applies only to 
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the acquisition, exercise or conversion of securities. Subsequent disposal of any such securities 
is restricted as outlined in this policy. 
 
The restrictions contained herein apply to the acquisition or disposal of an interest in any type of 
options. The actual exercise of the options is not subject to these restrictions. However, any 
dealing in the underlying securities after the exercise of the options is subject to the same 
restrictions. 
 
Directors must notify the Company Secretary in writing of all transactions in accordance with the 
requirements of Sections 205F and 205G of the Australian Corporations Act. The Company will 
notify the ASX of the details of any transaction, on behalf of the directors. 
 
The above restrictions extend to a director’s spouse, partner, children and organisations (e.g. 
private companies or trusts) in which a director has a material interest and the capacity to control 
the decision. These restrictions also apply in all situations where a director is in a position of 
exerting significant influence over the voting intentions of parties personally known to that director 
(e.g. where the director is a trustee and is in a position to make investment decisions or exert 
significant influence on those making such decisions even though he may not be a beneficiary of 
the trust). 
 
Senior executives who have price sensitive information are restricted from dealing in the  
Company’s securities in the same way as Directors, as set out above.  
 
The Chairman has discretion to permit a director or officer to deal in the Company’s securities  
in specific circumstances such as financial hardship or restructuring personal affairs.   

Principle 4—Safeguarding integrity in financial reporting 

Certificate from CEO/CFO 

The CEO and CFO have provided a certificate to the Board regarding the Financial Reports that 
follow, giving a true and fair view and being in accordance with accounting standards. 

Audit Committee 

The Company has an Audit Committee comprising only non-executive directors of the Board, as 
determined by the Board, with financial skills and experience relevant to the committee’s 
functions. 

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, Professor Vitale 
(Chairman) and Dr Taverner. 

Professor Vitale is Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Audit Commitee.   

The board of Medical Therapies Limited is currently actively seeking to appoint new directors 
against established selection criteria. A shortlist of candidates has now been prepared and it is 
expected that appropriate new board member(s) will be interviewed in the near future. 

The Audit Committee will assist the Board in fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary responsibilities 
relating to: 
• external reporting of financial information 
• internal control and risk management processes 
• legal and regulatory compliance 
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• independence and effectiveness of external auditors. 

Auditor selection, appointment and lead partner rotation 

The Audit Committee will annually review the: 
• quality and rigour of the audit 
• quality and cost of the service provided 
• audit firm’s internal quality control procedures 
• assessment of auditor independence. 

The Audit Committee will approve all non-audit work that is proposed to be carried out by the 
auditors and ensure that it will not compromise the independence of the audit. 

Should a change in auditor be considered necessary a formal tendering process will be 
undertaken. Appointment will be made taking various matters into consideration and in 
consultation with management. 

The Board will ensure that the audit partner rotation policy is effective and the overall succession 
plan is designed to minimise the effect on the Company. 
 
Each half-year, the auditor will be required to provide a certificate regarding their independence 
as auditor of the Company. In addition, the auditor will be required to confirm that all professional 
members of the audit team have declared, prior to commencing any audit work, that they are 
independent for the purposes of the Corporations Act and the firm’s own policies. 

Contracts and transactions between the Company and its officers 

A proposed contract between an officer and Medical Therapies must be approved by the Board 
prior to its execution. 

Officers include any directors, employees of the Company or subsidiaries with the ability to enter 
into agreements on behalf of the Company. 

The contract may be either direct with the officer, a member of the officer’s family or an entity in 
which the officer of a member of the officer’s family holds an interest. Holdings in publicly-listed 
companies of less than 5% are excluded. 

Principle 5—Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Continuous disclosure 
 
The Company has established procedures to ensure that the share market in which the 
Company’s shares are traded is properly informed of matters that may have a material impact on 
the price at which the Company’s securities are traded. Specifically, the Company’s policy is to 
ensure compliance with the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Listing Rules 3.1, 3.1A and 3.1B. 
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Principle 6—Respect for the rights of shareholders 

Communication policy 

The Board of Directors aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major 
developments affecting the Company’s state of affairs.  

Information is communicated to shareholders through: 
• the Annual Report 
• the Interim Report 
• disclosures made to the Australian Stock Exchange  
• notices and explanatory memoranda of Annual General Meetings 
• the Annual General Meeting 
• occasional newsletters from the Company to specifically inform shareholders of key matters 

of interest 
• the Company’s website, www.medicaltherapies.com.au. 

Principle 7—Recognise and manage risk 

The Board determines the Company’s ‘risk profile’ and is responsible for overseeing and 
approving risk management strategies and internal compliance and control. These include: 
• establishing and monitoring the Company’s strategies, goals and objectives 
• identifying and measuring risks that might impact on the achievement of those strategies, 

goals and objectives 
• formulating risk management strategies to manage the identified risks 
• monitoring and improving the effectiveness of risks and internal compliance controls. 

The Board acknowledges that the development of sound risk management policies and 
procedures is an ongoing process that will continue as the Company grows. 
 
The Board will oversee an annual assessment of the effectiveness of risk management and 
internal compliance and control. 

 
The responsibility for undertaking and assessing risk management and internal control 
effectiveness is delegated to management. Management is required by the Board to assess 
risk management and associated internal compliance and control procedures and report 
back on the efficiency and effectiveness of risk management. 

 

Principle 8—Encourage enhanced performance 

Performance evaluation—Board and committees and non-executive directors 

The Board, through the Chairman, will carry out an evaluation, at least every three years, to: 
• review the role of the Board 
• assess the performance of the Board with a view to assisting the Board to better perform its 

duties 
• review the type and timing of information provided to directors 
• review the performance of the committees 
• review the performance and contribution of each of the non-executive directors. 
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The Board may, from time to time, use an independent adviser to assist in the reviews. 

Performance evaluation—Non-executive directors 

The performance and contribution of each non-executive director will be carried out by the 
Chairman prior to their standing for re-election. 

Performance evaluation—Chief Executive Officer 

The Board will annually review the performance of the CEO having regard to performance 
measures set out at the commencement of each year. These will include financial measures, 
achievement of strategic objectives and other key performance indicators, and compliance. 

Director induction 

The objective of a director induction is to inform the director such that he or she can become as 
effective a director as possible, as soon as possible. 

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring an adequate induction plan is in place and is followed.  
Induction covers directors’ duties, the Company’s business and Board structures, policies and 
issues. 

Director indemnification, access and insurance 

To enable directors to fulfil their obligations they must have access to information. It is also 
considered appropriate that directors, during and after their period of service, have access to 
information for proper purposes, including defending a legal action. It is also common practice for 
directors to be indemnified out of the assets of the company, except where there has been a 
wilful breach of duty. It is also common practice for companies to maintain Directors and Officers 
Liability insurance. 

It is a policy of this Board that Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access covering the above 
matters (and other appropriate matters) will be entered into with each of the directors, as 
approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in April 2006. These Deeds have been 
put in place for the existing directors. 

Principle 9—Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Remuneration policies—non-executive directors 

Fees paid to non-executive directors will generally be around the market average. Statutory 
superannuation will be paid in addition to the fees. 

Directors will not be entitled to a retirement benefit. 

Directors may be paid additional fees for work on standing committees of the Board and any 
ad hoc committee that meets more than four times per year. 

Directors and Company officers will not participate in share or option plans except with the 
approval of the shareholders. 
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Remuneration policies—senior executives 

Remuneration packages will generally be set in a range approved by the Board with the goal of 
attracting and retaining executives with skills and experience that the Company requires. 

Packages will be negotiated by the CEO and will comprise a fixed (cash) element and variable 
incentive components. 

Short-term incentives will be in the form of cash and be subject to various performance measures 
linked to the short-term objectives of the Company as set by the CEO and approved by the 
Board. 

Long-term incentives will be through participation in an option plan, the exercise of which will be 
subject to achievement of major performance milestones. 

For further information, refer to the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ Report. 

Aggregate Directors Fees 
 
The aggregate directors’ fees will be approved by shareholders under Clause 13.7 of the 
Constitution and paid to individual non-executive directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors. 
 
The annual aggregate remuneration has been set at an amount of $300,000 per annum as 
approved by shareholders at the shareholder meeting held on 29 April 2005. 
 
The following fees were established from 1 July 2006 and are paid monthly: 
 
• Chairman     $55,000 per annum 
 
• Non-Executive Director   $45,000 per annum  
 
• Audit Committee Member  $5,000 per annum 
 
 
Statutory superannuation is in addition to the above amounts. Directors may elect to have part or 
all of the above fees paid into an approved superannuation fund. 
 
Directors may elect to take all or part of the above fees in the form of shares in Medical Therapies 
Limited, subject to this election occurring through a plan that has all necessary approvals. 

The Board’s Remuneration Committee consists of Dr Michael Taverner (Chair) and Professor 
Michael Vitale.  
 

Principle 10—Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders 

Code of Conduct for employees 

The purposes of the Code of Conduct are to: 
• ensure compliance with all relevant legislation 
• fulfil the reasonable expectations of the communities in which the Company operates, by 

acknowledging the rights of various stakeholders 
• enhance the reputation of the Company with the financial and broader communities 
• improve the performance of the Company 
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• inform employees of the Board’s expectations of them, including the obligations of raising and 
pursuing concerns of non-compliance or unethical behaviour 

• assist in achieving the Company vision. 
 

The Code of Conduct acknowledges the responsibility to shareholders, employees and the 
community. 

Other matters covered by the Code of Conduct include: 
• commitment to quality 
• commitment to confidentiality and not using knowledge or position improperly 

commitment to complying with laws and regulation
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Financial Report 

 
This financial report covers both Medical Therapies Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity 
consisting of Medical Therapies Limited and its subsidiary.  The financial report is presented in Australian currency. 

Medical Therapies Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its registered 
office and principal place of business is: 

33 Waterloo Road, Suite 15 
North Ryde 
NSW 2113 

 
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of 
operations and activities in the directors’ report on pages 3 to 4, which is not part of this financial report. 

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 31 August 2007.  The Company has the power to 
amend and reissue the financial report. 

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, and available 
globally at minimum cost to the Company.  All press releases, financial reports and other information are available on 
our website: www.medicaltherapies.com.au. 
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Medical Therapies Limited 

Income statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2007 

 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
  2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
Notes $ $ $ $ 

Revenue 5 78,329 79,154 77,622 78,917 

Other income 5 57,279 37,899 56,737 37,899 
Consultancy expenses  (777,199) (728,749) (777,199) (728,749) 
Share-based compensation 30 (427,314) (568,000) (427,314) (568,000) 
Research and development expense 6 (1,125,662) (663,292) (1,125,662) (663,292) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (364,249) (166,481) (362,253) (163,145) 
Professional fees  (448,299) (208,065) (447,904) (205,937) 
Directors’ remuneration  (172,911) (112,406) (172,911) (112,406) 
Employee benefits  (510,250) - (510,250) - 
Patent costs  (298,754) (57,148) (298,754) (57,148) 
Occupancy   (72,180) (65,878) (72,180) (65,878) 
Other expenses  (422,951) (302,040) (422,729) (285,346) 
Finance costs 6 (70,621) (5,086) (70,621) (5,085) 
      
Loss before income tax  (4,554,782) (2,760,092) (4,553,418) (2,738,170) 

Income tax expense 7 - - - - 
 
Net loss attributable to members of Medical 
Therapies Limited  (4,554,782) (2,760,092) (4,553,418) (2,738,170) 
      
      
      

  Cents Cents   
Earnings per share for loss attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the Company:      
Basic earnings per share 29 (8.18) (8.06)   
Diluted earnings per share 29 (8.18) (8.06)   

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Medical Therapies Limited 

Balance sheets 
As at 30 June 2007 

 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
  2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
Notes $ $ $ $ 

ASSETS      
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 8(a) 1,842,312 2,494,822 1,835,785 2,487,390 
Trade and other receivables 9 110,348 490,263 101,526 471,754 
Total current assets  1,952,660 2,985,085 1,937,311 2,959,144 

Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 10 135,085 86,171 133,543 82,633 
Intangible assets 12 2,627,350 2,967,715 2,627,350 2,967,715 
Total non-current assets  2,762,435 3,053,886 2,760,893 3,050,348 

Total assets  4,715,095 6,038,971 4,698,204 6,009,492 

LIABILITIES      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 13 1,483,254 416,657 1,569,254 491,433 
Borrowings 14 - 108,793 - 108,793 
Provisions 15 22,125 - 22,125 - 
Total current liabilities  1,505,379 525,450 1,591,379 600,226 
      
Non-current liabilities      
Borrowings 17 1,676,754 - 1,676,754 - 
      
Total non-current liabilities  1,676,754 - 1,676,754 - 
      

Total liabilities  3,182,133 525,450 3,268,133 600,226 

Net assets  1,532,962 5,513,521 1,430,071 5,409,266 
 
EQUITY      
Contributed equity 18 9,375,808 9,228,899 9,375,808 9,228,899 
Reserves 19(a) 995,314 568,000 995,314 568,000 
Accumulated losses 19(b) (8,838,160) (4,283,378) (8,941,051) (4,387,633) 
      
Total equity  1,532,962 5,513,521 1,430,071 5,409,266 
 
The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Medical Therapies Limited 

Statements of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2007 

 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
  2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
Notes $ $ $ $ 

Total equity at the beginning of the financial 
year  5,513,521 229,934 5,409,266 103,757 
      
Loss for the year  (4,554,782) (2,760,092) (4,553,418) (2,738,170) 
Total recognised income and expense for the 
year  (4,554,782) (2,760,092) (4,553,418) (2,738,170) 
 
Transactions with equity holders       
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs  19,600 7,475,679 19,600 7,475,679 
Movement in share based payments reserve 19 427,314 568,000 427,314 568,000 
Equity component of convertible notes  127,309 - 127,309 - 
  574,223 8,043,679 574,223 8,043,679 
      
Total equity at the end of the  financial year  1,532,962 5,513,521 1,430,071 5,409,266 
      
 
      
      
 
The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Medical Therapies Limited 

Cash flow statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2007 

 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
  2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
Notes $ $ $ $ 

Cash flows from operating 
activities      
Payments to suppliers and 
employees (inclusive of goods and 
services tax)  (2,945,547) (2,305,345) (2,943,393) (2,319,491) 
Other revenue  57,279 41,689 56,737 41,689 
Interest paid  (3,607) (5,086) (3,607) (5,085) 
Net cash (outflow) from 
operating activities 27 (2,891,875) (2,268,742) (2,890,263) (2,282,887) 
      
Cash flows from investing 
activities      
Payments for property, plant and 
equipment  (104,064) (85,613) (104,064) (85,613) 
Loan from related party  - - - 75,688 
Payments for intangible assets  - (331,265) - (331,265) 
Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment  - 3,703 - 1,251 
Repayment of loans by related 
parties   39,000  - 
Interest received  78,329 79,154 77,622 78,917 
Net cash (outflow) from investing 
activities  (25,735) (295,021) (26,442) (261,022) 
      
Cash flows from financing 
activities      
Proceeds from issues of shares 
and other equity securities net of 
transaction costs 
Proceeds from borrowings net of 
transaction costs  

9,399 
 

1,758,571 

4,684,679 
 

- 

9,399 
 

1,758,571 

4,684,679 
 

- 
Interest paid on convertible note  (13,577) - (13,577) - 
Proceeds from equity placement 
received in advance  619,500 - 619,500 - 
Repayment of borrowings  (60,915) - (60,915) - 
Net cash inflow from financing 
activities  2,312,978 4,684,679 2,312,978 4,684,679 
      

Net decrease in cash and 
cash equivalents  (604,632) 2,120,916 (603,727) 2,140,770 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the financial 
year  2,446,944 326,028 2,439,512 298,742 
Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of year 8(a) 1,842,312 2,446,944 1,835,785 2,439,512 
      
Non-cash financing and investing 
activities 28     
The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial report includes separate 
financial statements for Medical Therapies Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Medical 
Therapies Limited and its subsidiary. 

(a)  Basis of preparation 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Compliance with IFRSs 
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes of Medical Therapies comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).   

Historical cost convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in note 3. 

Reverse acquisition 
Medical Therapies Limited was incorporated on 8 October 2004 as a public company.  On the 13 October 2004, Medical 
Therapies Limited acquired all of the outstanding shares in Biotech Pty Limited via an equity exchange.  As the 
shareholders of Biotech Pty Limited acquired all of the outstanding shares in Medical Therapies Limited on that date, they 
effectively obtained control of the combined entity.  Under the terms of AASB 3 Business Combinations, Biotech Pty 
Limited is deemed to be the accounting acquirer in this business combination.   

This transaction has therefore been accounted for as a reverse acquisition under AASB 3.  Accordingly, the consolidated 
financial statements of Medical Therapies Limited have been prepared as a continuation of the consolidated financial 
statements of Biotech Pty Limited.  Biotech Pty Limited, as the deemed acquirer, has acquisition accounted for Medical 
Therapies Limited as at 13 October 2004.  

Going concern  
As a developing business, the Group has experienced operating losses of $4,554,782 (2006:$ 2,760,092) and net cash 
outflows from operating activities of $ 2,891,875 (2006: $2,268,742). 

The continuing viability of the Company and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and commitments 
as and when they fall due are dependent upon the Company being successful in negotiating additional debt or equity 
finance, to fund forecast working capital expenditure. 

As a result of these matters, there is significant uncertainty whether the Company will continue as a going concern and, 
therefore, whether it will realise its assets and settle its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business and at 
the amounts stated in the financial report.  However, the directors believe that the Company will be successful in the above 
matters and, accordingly, have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis.  At this time, the directors are of the 
opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less than the amount at which it is recorded in the financial 
report at 30 June 2007.  Accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the financial report relating to the recoverability 
and classification of the asset carrying amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary 
should the Company not continue as a going concern. 

(b)  Principles of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary of Medical Therapies Limited 
(''Company'' or ''parent entity'') as at 30 June 2007 and the results of its subsidiary for the year then ended.  Medical 
Therapies Limited and its subsidiary together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity. 
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Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to note 1(i)). 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.  
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group. 

(c)  Segment reporting 

A business segment is identified for a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are 
subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments.  A geographical segment is identified 
when products or services are provided within a particular economic environment subject to risks and returns that are 
different from those of segments operating in other economic environments 

(e)  Revenue recognition 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

(f)  Government grants 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. 

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to 
match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as 
deferred income and are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related 
assets. 
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(g)  Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, 
and to unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each 
jurisdiction.  The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to 
measure the deferred tax asset or liability.  An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of an asset or a liability.  No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences 
if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either 
accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases 
of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation 
Medical Therapies Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entity have decided not to implement the tax 
consolidation legislation. 

(h)  Leases 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases (note 23).  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

(i)  Business combinations 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations 
involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are 
acquired.  Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the fair 
value of the instruments is their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be 
demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence 
and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value.  Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity 
instruments are recognised directly in equity. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially 
at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.  The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If the cost 
of acquisition is less than the Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised directly in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange.  The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at 
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 

(j)  Impairment of assets 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
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(k)  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet. 

(l)  Receivables 

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for doubtful 
debts.   

Collectibility of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off.  A 
provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate.  Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.  The amount 
of the provision is recognised in the income statement. 

(m)  Investments and other financial assets 

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments.  
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this 
designation at each reporting date. 
 
(i) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.  They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling 
the receivable.  They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date which are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the 
balance sheet (note 9). 

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities 
that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired.    

(n)  Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.  The 
Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance 
date. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 
financial instruments.  

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 
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(o)  Leasehold improvements, furniture, fittings and office equipment 

Leasehold improvements, furniture, fittings and office equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.   

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 

- Furniture, fittings and office equipment 3-5 years 

- Leasehold improvements 3 years 
 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(j)). 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in the 
income statement.   

(p)  Intangible assets  

(i) Intangible assets – other intangibles 
Costs incurred in acquiring intellectual property are capitalised and amortised on a straight line basis over the period of the 
expected benefit. Intellectual property held at the reporting date is amortised over its estimated useful life of ten years, using 
the straight line method.  Management review the useful economic life of intellectual property at each year end.  Following 
the IPO, the useful economic life of the acquired intellectual property was assessed as 10 years. 

(ii)   Patents and Trademarks 
Patents and trademarks have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Patents and trademarks are capitalised only when technical feasibility is achieved. Amortisation is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of patents and trademarks over their estimated useful lives, which vary from 5 to 
20 years. 

(iii)   Research and development 
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the 
design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will 
be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility and its costs can be measured reliably.  The expenditure 
capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads.  Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 

(q)  Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are 
unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(r)  Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in 
the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.   

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent 
non-convertible bond.  This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or 
maturity of the bonds.  The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option.  This is recognised and included 
in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
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(s)  Employee benefits 

Employee benefits 
 
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees' services up to the 
reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the 
projected unit credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. 
 
(iii) Retirement benefit obligations  
Contributions to the defined contribution fund are recognised as an expense as they become payable.  Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. Contributions 
are paid into the fund nominated by the employee. 
 
Share-based payments 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to directors and executives.  Information relating to these benefits is set 
out in note 30. 

Shares and options granted after 7 November 2002 and vested after 1 January 2005 
The fair value of options granted is recognised as a benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair value 
is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the directors and executives become unconditionally 
entitled to the options. 

The fair value at grant date is determined using a binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, 
the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any 
non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that 
are expected to become exercisable.  At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options 
that are expected to become exercisable. The benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent 
estimate. 

Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to 
share capital and the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital. 

(t)  Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.   

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a 
business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 

(u)  Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. 
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(v)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow. 

(w)  New accounting standards and UIG interpretations 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2007 
reporting periods.  The Group’s and the parent entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations 
is set out below. 

(i) AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038] 

AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.  The Group 
has not adopted the standards early.  Application of the standards will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements, but will impact the type of information disclosed in relation to the Group’s and the parent entity’s 
financial instruments. 

(ii) AASB-I 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 

AASB-I 10 is applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after 1 November 2006.  The Group has not recognised an 
impairment loss in relation to goodwill, investments in equity instruments or financial assets carried at cost in an interim 
reporting period but subsequently reversed the impairment loss in the annual report.  Application of the interpretation will 
therefore have no impact on the Group’s or the parent entity’s financial statements. 
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2 Financial risk management 
The Group's activities expose it to a limited number of financial risks as described below.  The Group's overall risk 
management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.  To date, the 
Group has not utilised derivative financial instruments as there have been no material risk exposures identified. 

(a) Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in 
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

The Group is exposed to short term foreign exchange risk arising from purchases payable in US dollars.  These purchases 
have not been significant, and have generally been paid within 30 days of invoice receipt. 

(iii) Fair value interest rate risk 
Refer to (d) below. 

(b) Credit risk 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.   

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Group maintains sufficient liquidity by holding cash in readily accessible accounts. 

(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

The Group holds significant cash balances in a variable rate investment account.  The Group’s net income and operating 
cash flows however are not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates. 

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. 

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

(i) Estimated impairment of intellectual property 

The Company tests annually whether intellectual property has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 1(j). The expected useful life of the intellectual property is accounted for prospectively by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate. The recoverable amounts of the 
intellectual property have been determined based on reviewing the status of the research and development program, 
progress on its patent applications and projected cash flow calculations.  These calculations require the use of assumptions. 
Refer to note 12 for details of these assumptions and the potential impact of changes to the assumptions. 

4 Segment information 
The primary business segment and the primary geographic segment within which the consolidated entity operates are 
biotechnology and Australia respectively.  For primary reporting purposes, the entity operates in one business segment and 
one geographic segment as described.  
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5 Other revenue and other income 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Other revenue     
Interest 78,329 79,154 77,622 78,917 

     
Other income     
Government subsidies (note (a)) 50,200 37,899 50,200 37,899 
Miscellaneous income  7,079 - 6,537 - 
 
 57,279 37,899 56,737 37,899 

(a) Government subsidies 

Subsidies from the New South Wales Department of State and Regional Development of $19,013 (2006: $37,899) were 
recognised as other income by the Group during the financial year. Export market development grants of $31,187 (2006: $ 
nil) were recognised as other income by the Group during the financial year. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other 
contingencies attaching to these subsidies.  The Group did not benefit directly from any other forms of government 
assistance. 

6 Expenses 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Loss before income tax includes the following 
specific expenses: 

    
Depreciation     

Plant and equipment 37,736 7,552 35,740 4,216 
Leasehold improvements 17,413 4,379 17,413 4,379 

Total depreciation 55,149 11,931 53,153 8,595 
 
Amortisation     

Acquired intellectual property 309,100 154,550 309,100 154,550 
Total amortisation 309,100 154,550 309,100 154,550 
     
Finance costs     

Interest and finance charges paid/payable 70,621 5,086 70,621 5,085 
     
     
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 17,955 - 1,947 
     
Rental expense relating to operating leases     

Minimum lease payments 57,736 61,275 57,736 61,275 
Contingent rentals 11,369 3,299 11,369 3,299 

Total rental expense relating to operating leases 69,105 64,574 69,105 64,574 
     
Defined contribution superannuation expense - 9,281 - 9,281 
     
Research and development – The University of Sydney 1,022,078 546,573 1,022,078 546,573 
                                             – Other 103,584 116,719 103,584 116,719 
Total research and development 1,125,662 663,292 1,125,662 663,292 
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7 Income tax expense 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

(a) Income tax expense 
    

Current tax - - - - 
Deferred tax - - - - 
 - - - - 
     

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense 
to prima facie tax payable 

    
Loss before income tax expense (4,554,782) (2,760,092) (4,553,418) (2,738,170) 
     
Tax (benefit) at the Australian tax rate of 30%  (1,366,435) (828,028) (1,366,025) (821,451) 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in 
calculating taxable income:     

Amortisation of intangibles 92,730 46,365 92,730 46,365 
Entertainment 1,214 1,297 1,214 1,297 
Share-based payments 128,194 170,400 128,194 170,400 
Research and development 337,699 202,369 337,699 202,369 
Professional fees - 20,932 - 20,932 
Depreciation 16,545 3,580 15,946 2,579 
Sundry items - 22,609 - 20,657 

Income tax (benefit) adjusted for permanent differences (790,053) (360,476) (790,242) (356,852) 
     
Tax losses not brought to account 790,053 360,476 790,242 356,852 
Income tax expense - - - - 

(c) Tax losses 
    

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised 1,414,320 624,267 1,414,320 624,267 
Temporary difference deferred tax assets not recognised 576,787 506,294 576,787 506,294 
Potential tax benefit @ 30% 597,332 331,168 597,332 331,168 
     
All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian 
entities. 

    

(d) Tax consolidation legislation 

Medical Therapies Limited and its wholly-owned Australian entity have decided not to implement the tax consolidation 
legislation.   
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8 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Cash at bank and in hand 194,414 8,412 187,887 980 
Investment account 1,647,898 2,486,410 1,647,898 2,486,410 
 1,842,312 2,494,822 1,835,785 2,487,390 

 

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year 

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Balances as above 1,842,312 2,494,822 1,835,785 2,487,390 
Bank overdrafts (note 14) - (47,878) - (47,878) 
Balances per statement of cash flows 1,842,312 2,446,944 1,835,785 2,439,512 

(b) Cash  

Cash at bank and in hand are non-interest bearing.  The cash in the investment account earns a floating interest rate 
between 4.75% and 5.20% (2006 – 4.50% to 4.75%).    

(c) Interest Rate Risk  

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the cash balances in the investment account detailed above. 

9 Current assets - Trade and other receivables 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Other receivables 63,313 141,278 54,491 122,769 
Prepayments 47,035 348,985 47,035 348,985 
 110,348 490,263 101,526 471,754 

 

(a) Other receivables 

The Group and parent entity balances for 2007 include $32,214 in term deposits held as security for an operating lease and 
a credit card facility.  These deposits earn fixed interest of 5.55% to 6.20% over terms of up to six months. 

(b) Effective interest rates and credit risk 

There is no interest rate risk for the balance of Trade and other receivables. 

There is no material credit risk associated with other receivables and prepayments. 
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10 Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment 

     

 

Consolidated  

Furniture, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

 
$  $ 

At 1 July 2005    
Cost  41,051 - 41,051 
Accumulated depreciation (6,904) - (6,904) 
Net book amount 34,147 - 34,147 
    
Year ended 30 June 2006    
Opening net book amount 34,147 - 34,147 
Additions 33,089 52,524 85,613 
Disposals (21,658) - (21,658) 
Depreciation charge (7,552) (4,379) (11,931) 
Closing net book amount 38,026 48,145 86,171 
    
At 30 June 2006    
Cost  46,116 52,524 98,640 
Accumulated depreciation (8,090) (4,379) (12,469) 
Net book amount 38,026 48,145 86,171 

 

    

Consolidated 

Furniture, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

 
$ $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2007    
Opening net book amount 38,026 48,145 86,171 
Additions 104,063 - 104,063 
Disposals - - - 
Depreciation charge (37,736) (17,413) (55,149) 
Closing net book amount 104,353 30,732 135,085 
    
At 30 June 2007    
Cost  150,180 52,524 202,704 
Accumulated depreciation (45,828) (21,791) (67,619) 
Net book amount 104,352 30,733 135,085 
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Parent entity 

Furniture, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

 
$  $ 

At 1 July 2005    
Cost  9,408 - 9,408 
Accumulated depreciation (596) - (596) 
Net book amount 8,812 - 8,812 
    
Year ended 30 June 2006    
Opening net book amount 8,812 - 8,812 
Additions 33,089 52,524 85,613 
Disposals (3,197) - (3,197) 
Depreciation charge (4,216) (4,379) (8,595) 
Closing net book amount 34,488 48,145 82,633 
    
At 30 June 2006    
Cost  38,888 52,524 91,412 
Accumulated depreciation (4,400) (4,379) (8,779) 
Net book amount 34,488 48,145 82,633 

Parent entity 

Furniture, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

 
$ $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2007    
Opening net book amount 34,488 48,145 82,633 
Additions 104,063 - 104,063 
Disposals - - - 
Depreciation charge (35,740) (17,413) (53,153) 
Closing net book amount 102,811 30,732 133,543 
    
At 30 June 2007    
Cost  142,952 52,524 195,476 
Accumulated depreciation (40,142) (21,791) (61,933) 
Net book amount 102,810 30,733 133,543 
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11 Non-current assets - Deferred tax assets 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to: 

    
Amounts recognised in profit or loss     
Accrued expenses claimable in future periods 16,800 24,000 16,800 24,000 
     
Amounts recognised directly in equity     
Transaction costs 110,614 168,523 110,614 168,523 
     
 127,414 192,523 127,414 192,523 
     
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities of parent entity pursuant 
to set-off provisions (note 16) (92,730) (43,635) (92,730) (43,635) 
Temporary difference deferred tax assets not recognised (34,684) (148,888) (34,684) (148,888) 
Net deferred tax assets - - - - 
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12 Non-current assets – Intangible assets 

Consolidated 

Acquired 
intellectual 

property 

Patents, 
trademarks 
and other 

rights Total 

 
$ $ $ 

At 1 July 2005    
Cost - - - 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - - - 
Net book amount - - - 
    
Year ended 30 June 2006    
Opening net book amount - - - 
Additions 3,091,000 31,265 3,122,265 
Write-down - - - 
Amortisation charge * (154,550) - (154,550) 
Closing net book amount 2,936,450 31,265 2,967,715 
    
At 30 June 2006    
Cost 3,091,000 31,265 3,122,265 
Accumulated amortisation  (154,550) - (154,550) 
Net book amount 2,936,450 31,265 2,967,715 

    

 

Acquired 
intellectual 

property 

Patents, 
trademarks 
and other 

rights Total 

 
$ $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2007    
Opening net book amount 2,936,450 31,265 2,967,715 
Additions - - - 
Write-down - (31,265) (31,265) 
Amortisation charge * (309,100) - (309,100) 
Closing net book amount  2,627,350 - 2,627,350 
    
At 30 June 2007    
Cost 3,091,000 - 3,091,000 
Accumulated amortisation (463,650) - (463,650) 
Net book amount 2,627,350 - 2,627,350 
    
* Amortisation of $309,100 is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the income statement. 

Key assumptions used  

The impairment testing of intellectual property (intangible assets refer note 12) is determined based on 
future benefits to the company. These calculations use cash flows based on financial projections reviewed 
by management which cover a five-year period plus a terminal value. The revenue projections include the 
distal proctitis, colitis and cholecystitis markets, with market penetrations ranging between 2 to 5 %. The 
increase in market size year on year was assumed to be around 1%. Pricing assumptions are based on 
near equivalent products currently sold in the target markets. All future cash flows have been discounted to 
present values at a rate of 12%.
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13 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Trade payables 393,059 76,175 393,059 75,263 
Lease liability 11,284 17,733 11,284 17,733 
Loan from controlled entity - - 86,000 75,688 
Funds in trust  (private placement rec’d in advance) 619,500 - 619,500 - 
Other payables 459,411 322,749 459,411 322,749 
 1,483,254 416,657 1,569,254 491,433 

14 Current liabilities – Borrowings 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Unsecured     
Bank overdraft - 47,878 - 47,878 
Other loans - 60,915 - 60,915 
Total unsecured current borrowings - 108,793 - 108,793 

 

(a) Other loans 

Other loans have been repaid over the period to February 2007 and bear interest at a fixed rate of 10.5% per annum. 

(b) Bank overdraft 

The bank overdraft was repaid in early July 2006, as the Group does not currently utilise this type of facility. 

(c) Interest rate risk exposures 

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on borrowings. 
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15 Current liabilities - Provisions  
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Employee benefits -annual leave 22,125 - 22,125 - 
 22,125 - 22,125 - 

16 Non-current liabilities - Deferred tax liabilities 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to: 

    
Amounts recognised in profit or loss     
Amortisation 92,730 43,635 92,730 43,635 
 92,730 43,635 92,730 43,635 

     

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off 
provisions (note 11) (92,730) (43,635) (92,730) (43,635) 
Net deferred tax liabilities - - - - 
     

 

17 Non-current liabilities – Borrowings 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Unsecured     
Convertible notes 1,676,754 - 1,676,754 - 
Total unsecured current borrowings 1,676,754 - 1,676,754 - 

 

(a) Interest rate risk exposures 

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on borrowings. 

(b) Convertible notes 

The parent entity issued 10,741,095 8% convertible notes for $1.83 million on 8 May 2007.  The notes are convertible into 
ordinary shares of the parent entity, at the option of the holder, or repayable on 31 December 2008.  The number of ordinary 
shares to be issued for each convertible note will be determined by dividing the issue price of the note ($0.17) by the lesser 
of $0.17 (the market price per share at the date of issue of the notes) and the market price per share at settlement date.   
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17 Non-current liabilities – Borrowings (continued) 
The convertible notes are presented in the balance sheet as follows: 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Face value of notes issued 1,825,946 - 1,832,136 - 
Converted to shares (10,200)  (10,200)  
Effective interest  16,390  16,390  
Other equity securities - value of conversion rights (127,309) - (127,309) - 
 1,704,827 - 1,704,827 - 

Interest expense * 67,014 - 67,014 - 
Interest paid (13,577) - (13,577) - 
Current liability – interest payable (53,437)  (53,437)  
Transaction costs (28,073) - (28,073) - 
     
Non-current liability 1,676,754 - 1,676,754 - 

* Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of 12.64 % to the liability component. 

(k) Fair value 

The carrying amounts and fair values of borrowings at balance date are the same. 

 

18 Contributed equity 
 Parent entity Parent entity 
  2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
Notes Number Number $ $ 

(a) Share capital 
     

Ordinary shares (c),(d)     
Fully paid  55,737,480 55,630,483 9,190,510 9,170,910

  55,737,480 55,630,483 9,190,510 9,170,910

(b) Other equity securities 
     

Value of conversion rights – conversion notes  127,309  - 127,309 - 
  127,309  -  127,309 - 
  
Options      
   Listed  20,166,733 20,213,730 57,989 57,989   
    Managing Director (L Casbolt)   1,000,000 3,500,000 - - 
   Directors  2,550,000 2,550,000 - - 
   Executives  1,080,000 - - - 
  24,796,733 26,263,730 57,989 57,989 

Total contributed equity    9,375,808         9,228,899 
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18 Contributed equity (continued) 

(c) Movements in ordinary share capital: 

Date Details Notes 
Number of 

shares Issue price $ 

Opening balance 1 July 2005  13,779,916  1,753,220 
4 November 2005 

Share issue  1,750,000 $0.10 175,000 
5 December 2005 

Share issue (ii) 17,142,857 $0.16 2,791,000 
5 December 2005 

Share Issue  15,426,500 $0.20 3,085,300 
9 May 2006 

Exercise of 281,020 options  281,020 $0.20 56,204 
16 May 2006 

Exercise of 217,742 options  217,742 $0.20 43,548 
26 May 2006 

Share issue  6,911,344 $0.29 2,004,290 
29 May 2006 

Exercise of 45,622 options  45,622 $0.20 9,124 
1 June 2006 

Share issue  34,483 $0.29 10,000 
13 June 2006 

Exercise of 37,666 options  37,666 $0.20 7,533 
30 June 2006 

Exercise of 3,333 options  3,333 $0.20 667 
 

   9,935,886 
 

Less transaction costs arising on share issue   (764,976)
 

Closing balance 30 June 2006  55,630,483  9,170,910 
 

    
24 July 2006 

Exercise of 27,332 options  27,332
$0.20

5,466 
8 August 2006 

Exercise of 5,000 options  5,000
$0.20

1,000 
22 September 2006 

Exercise of  3,333 options  3,333
$0.20

667 
1 December 2006 

Exercise of 4,999 options  4,999
$0.20

1,000 
6 March 2007 

Exercise of 3,000 options  3,000
$0.20

600 
27 April 2007 

Exercise of 3,333 options  3,333
$0.20

667 
25 May 2007 

Exercise of 60,000 converting note options  60,000 $0.17 10,200 
    
Closing balance 30 June 2007  55,737,480  9,190,510 

 



 
Medical Therapies Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2007 

 

 

    54

18 Contributed equity (continued) 

 (d) Ordinary shares 

No limit has been set on the total number of ordinary shares that the Company may issue.  The ordinary shares do not carry 
a par value. 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to 
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and 
upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 

(i) The Company issued 3,416,666 shares at a value of $0.12 for the equity exchange with Biotech. 

(ii) The Company issued 17,142,857 shares as consideration for the intellectual property acquired from The University of 
Sydney. 

     (e) Other equity securities 

The amount shown for other equity securities is the value of the conversion rights relating to the 8% convertible  notes,           
details  of which are shown in note 17. 
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(e) Movements in options: 

  Unlisted Listed  Restricted $  

 Opening balance 1 July 2005 5,516,665      -   -       - 

5 December 2005 
Reclassification of options due to 
ASX listing 

(100,000)     100,000  

5 December 2005 Options issue – Directors   2,450,000  

5 December 2005 
Options issue – previous Managing 
Director (L Casbolt) 

  3,500,000  

11 April 2006 Options issue at $0.005  13,876,900  69,382 

26 April 2006 Options issue at $0.005  1,005,548,  5,028 

2 May 2006 Unrestricted options listed (5,416,665 ) 5,416,665   

9 May 2006 Options exercised  (281,020)   

16 May 2006 Options exercised  (217,742)   

29 May 2006 Options exercised  (45,622)   

13 June 2006 Options issue at $0.005  500,000  2,500 

13 June 2006 Options exercised  (37,666)   

30 June 2006 Options exercised  (3,333)   

 Subtotal     76,910 

 
Less transaction costs arising on 
option issue 

    
(18,921) 

      

      

 Closing balance 30 June 2006         - 20,213,730 6,050,000   57,989 

      

24 July 2006 Options exercised  (27,332)   

8 August 2006 Options exercised  (5,000)   

22 September 
2006 Options exercised  (3,333)   

29 November 
2006 Options issue   500,000   

1 December 2006 Options exercised  (4,999)   

2 January 2007 
Options lapsed – previous 
Managing Director (L Casbolt) 

  (2,500,000)  
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30 January 2007 Options issue – Executives   1,030,000  

27 February 2007 Options issue – Executives   50,000  

6 March 2007 Options exercised  (3,000)   

27 April 2007 Options exercised  (3,333)   

      

      

      

Closing balance 30 June 2007         - 20,666,733 4,630,000 57,989  

(f) Options 

All outstanding options have an exercise price of $0.20 and, with the exception of options issued to the previous Managing 
Director (L Casbolt), Executives and Fresh Capital, an expiry date of 31 December 2007. 

On 9 March 2006, the Company invited its shareholders to subscribe to a rights issue of options at an issue price of $0.005 
per option on the basis of one option for every three fully paid ordinary shares held.    

In April 2006, the Company applied to the ASX, and received approval for, the listing of the rights options issued.  The 
Company subsequently applied to the ASX, and received approval for, the listing of the existing 5,416,665 unlisted options.   

Information relating to Medical Therapies Director and Executive options, including details of options issued and outstanding, 
is set out in note 30. 

Under an Option Deed, the Company has agreed to allot and issue 10,000,000 options to The University of Sydney on the 
Agreement End Date, subject to the University meeting the Technology Option Milestones set out in the Research 
Agreement. These options will be issued on substantially the same terms as the Director options set out in note 30, except 
that the expiry date will be two years from the date of issue. 
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19 Reserves and accumulated losses 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

(a) Reserves 
    

Share-based payments reserve 995,314 568,000 995,314 568,000
 995,314 568,000 995,314 568,000

Movements: 
    

     
Share-based payments reserve     

Balance 1 July  568,000 - 568,000 -
Option expense 427,314 568,000 427,314 568,000
Balance 30 June  995,314 568,000 995,314 568,000

     

 (b) Accumulated losses 

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows: 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Balance 1 July 4,283,378 1,523,286 4,387,633 1,649,463 
Net loss for the year 4,554,782 2,760,092 4,553,418 2,738,170 
Balance 30 June 8,838,160 4,283,378 8,941,051 4,387,633 

 

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves 

 
(i) Share-based payments reserve 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options granted but not exercised. 
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20 Key management personnel disclosures 

(a) Directors 

The following persons were directors of Medical Therapies Limited during the financial year: 

(i) Chairman - non-executive 

Prof M Vitale  
(ii) Executive directors 

Mr L Casbolt, Managing Director (from 1 July 2006 to 15 November 2006) 

Mr M Castle, Interim Managing Director (from 15 November 2006 to 13 April 2007) 

Ms M Halasz, Managing Director (from 16 April 2007 to current) 
 
(iii) Non-executive directors 

Dr M Taverner 

Mr M Castle (from 1 July 2006 to 15 November 2006 and from 16 April 2007 to 18 May 2007(resigned) 
 

Mr L Casbolt resigned from the position of Managing Director on 15 November 2006. 

Mr Castle resigned from the position of Non- Executive Director on 18 May 2007. 

(b) Other key management personnel 

Mr D James, Chief Operating Officer 

(c) Key management personnel compensation 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Short-term employee benefits 740,724 383,125 740,724 383,125 
Post-employment benefits 42,388 9,281 42,388 9,281 
Share-based payments (9,316)   329,000 (9,316)   329,000 
 773,796 721,406 773,796 721,406 
     
The company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04 and has transferred the 
detailed remuneration disclosures to the directors’ report.  The relevant information can be found in sections A-C of the 
remuneration report on pages 7 to12 

(c) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 

(i) Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options 
Details of options provided as remuneration, together with terms and conditions of the options, can be found in note 30. 

(ii) Option holdings 
The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Medical 
Therapies Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out 
below. 
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20   Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 

2007 

 

 
Name 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at 
the end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year  
Directors of Medical Therapies Limited 
M Taverner 400,000 - - - 400,000 400,000
M Vitale 350,000 - - - 350,000 350,000
M Castle 9,999 - - 20,000 29,999 9,999
M Halasz - - - - - --
L Casbolt 3,508,333 - - (2,500,000) 1,008,333 1,008,333
 
Other key management personnel 
D James - 750,000 - - 750,000 354,167

 

The employment contract with Ms M Halasz (CEO) provides for an entitlement to receive 3,000,000 options as part of 
her employment with the company. These options are subject to shareholder approval at the next annual general 
meeting scheduled to be held on 28 November 2007. 

Other changes during the year comprise options issued as a result of an options rights issue.  Shareholders were 
granted the right to purchase one option for every 3 shares held at a price of $0.005 per option.  All directors who held 
shares at the time took up their entitlements. 

 
2006 
 
 
Name 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at 
the end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year  
Directors of Medical Therapies Limited 
 M Taverner 50,000 350,000 (16,666) 16,666 400,000 400,000
J Dominquez - 1,750,000 - - 1,750,000 1,750,000
M Vitale - 350,000 (23,433) 23,433 350,000 350,000
M Castle - - - 9,999 9,999 9,999
L Casbolt - 3,500,000 - 8,333 3,508,333 1,008,333
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20      Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 

(iii) Share holdings 
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Medical Therapies Limited, 
including their personally related parties, are set out below.  There were no shares granted during the reporting period as 
compensation. 

2007 
 
 
Name 

Balance at the 
start of the year

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of 
options 

Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at 
the end of the 

year 
Directors of Medical Therapies Limited 

Ordinary shares 
L Casbolt  25,000 - 10,000 35,000 
M Castle 30,000 - 34,000 64,000 

  M Halasz - - - - 

  M Taverner 66,666 - 105,000 171,666 
M Vitale 93,733 - 30,000 123,733 
     
Other key management personnel     
Ordinary shares     
D James - - - - 

 

Mr Casbolt owns 35,000 shares indirectly. 

Mr Castle owns 64,000 shares indirectly. 

Dr Taverner owns 50,000 shares directly and 121,666 shares indirectly. 

Prof Vitale own his shares directly. 

Other changes during the year comprise shares purchased on market. 
 

2006 
 
 
Name 

Balance at the 
start of the year

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of 
options 

Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at 
the end of the 

year 
Directors of Medical Therapies Limited 

Ordinary shares 
L Casbolt  - - 25,000 25,000 
M Castle - - 30,000 30,000 
M Taverner 50,000 16,666 - 66,666 
M Vitale - 23,433 70,300 93,733 

Mr Casbolt owns 25,000 shares indirectly. 

Mr Castle owns 10,000 shares directly and 20,000 shares indirectly. 

Dr Taverner and Prof Vitale own their shares directly. 

Other changes during the year comprise shares purchased on market. 
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20   Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 

(d) Other transactions with key management personnel 

There were no transactions with key management personnel during the financial year ended 30 June 2007. 

The Chief executive officer is employed under a employment services contract. 

21 Remuneration of auditors 
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related 
practices and a non-related audit firm: 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

(a) Assurance services 
    

Audit services     
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm     

Audit of financial reports and other audit work under 
the Corporations Act 2001 141,620 70,000 141,620 70,000 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm      
Audit of financial reports and other audit work under 
the Corporations Act 2001 - 20,293 - 20,293 

Total remuneration for audit services 141,620 90,293 141,620 92,293 

Other assurance services     
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm     

Due diligence services 10,610 107,535 10,610 107,535 
Total remuneration for other assurance services 10,610 107,535 10,610 107,535 

Total remuneration for assurance services 152,230 197,828 152,230 197,828 

(b) Taxation services 
    

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm     
Tax compliance services, including review of 
Company income tax returns 26,400 20,000 26,400 20,000 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers firm      
Tax compliance services, including review of 
Company income tax returns - 12,000 - 12,000 

Total remuneration for taxation services 26,400 32,000 26,400 32,000 

(c) Advisory services 
    

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm     
Initial public offering, other public raisings  16,500 38,500 16,500 38,500 
Strategic facilitation - 14,000 - 14,000 
Consulting services  27,742 - 27,742 - 

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers firm      
Accounting and advisory services - 32,365 - 30,237 
Independent expert report - - - - 

Total remuneration for advisory services 44,242 84,865 44,242 82,737 

Total remuneration for non-audit services 70,642 116,865 70,642 116,865 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed as the Group’s auditors at the Annual General Meeting on 5 April 2006.   
It is the Group’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Group are important. It is the Group’s policy to seek 
competitive tenders for all major consulting projects. 
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22 Contingencies 

(a) Contingent liabilities 

The parent entity and Group had no significant contingent liabilities at 30 June 2007 or at 30 June 2006. 

(b) Contingent assets 

The parent entity and Group had no significant contingent assets at 30 June 2007. 

23 Commitments 

 (a) Operating Lease commitments : Group as lessee 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to 
operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but 
not recognised as liabilities, payable:     
Within one year 57,736 57,736 57,736 57,736 
Later than one year but not later than five years 43,302 101,038 43,302 101,038 
Later than five years - - - - 
 101,038 158,774 101,038 158,774 
     
Representing:     
Non-cancellable operating leases 101,038 158,774 101,038 158,774 
 101,038 158,774 101,038 158,774 
 
The Group leases an office under a non-cancellable operating lease expiring in three years.  The lease contains an option to 
extend for an additional two year period. 

 (b) Research commitments  

The Group has entered into several agreements with The University of Sydney for research and development, as well as 
consulting with respect to its R&D program.  The Research Agreement terminates at the earlier of the completion of the 
Research Project or the second anniversary of the Research Commencement Date (in December 2007), and can be 
extended by mutual agreement.  The Consultancy Agreements terminate 31 December 2007 and again, can be extended by 
mutual agreement. 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Commitments for minimum payments in relation to 
non-cancellable research and consulting agreements are 
payable as follows:     
Within one year 324,637 814,831 324,637 814,831 
Later than one year but not later than five years - 324,637 - 324,637 
 324,637 1,139,468 324,637 1,139,468 
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24 Related party transactions 

(a) Parent entities 

Medical Therapies Limited is the ultimate parent entity within the wholly-owned Group.  

(b) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 25. 

(c) Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 20. 

(d)  Amounts receivable or payable to Related Parties 

Amounts receivable from or payable to the Controlled Entity are shown in notes 9 and 13 to the financial statements.  These 
amounts do not carry interest and there is no fixed term for their repayment. 

(e) Transactions with related parties 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Purchase of research and development and related 
services from The University of Sydney 

 
1,022,078 

 
546,573 

 

 
1,022,078 

 
546,573 

Purchase of consultancy services from director M 
Taverner 

- 
 

3,500 - 3,500 

Refer to note 30 for details of options granted to The University of Sydney. 

 
 

25 Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiary in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1(b): 

Name of entity 
Country of 

incorporation
Class of 
shares Equity holding  

   2007 2006 

   
% % 

Biotech Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100 
     
 

The subsidiary is classified as a small company and is exempt from submitting accounts to the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission and therefore is not required to enter into a deed of cross guarantee.  

26 Events occurring after the balance sheet date 

The company completed a private equity placement, which was completed during the month of July 2007. The private        
placement resulted in raising total funds of $916,950 being 7,973,469 shares issued at $0.115 each share. Funds totalling 
$0.6m relating to this raising were received prior to 30 June 2007.The funds raised from this private placement will be used 
for ongoing Research and Development and working capital purposes. 
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27  Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash outflow from operating activities 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Loss for the year (4,554,782) (2,760,092) (4,553,418) (2,738,170) 
Depreciation and amortisation 364,249 166,481 362,253 163,145 
Non-cash expense - share-based payments 427,314 568,000 427,314 568,000 
Other non-cash item     
Amortisation of convertible note costs 39,302 - 39,302 - 
Patent costs write-back 31,265 - 31,265 - 
Convertible note effective interest rate 16,390 - 16,390 - 
Interest accrual on converting note 50,624 - 50,624 - 
Interest income (78,329) (79,154) (77,622) (78,917) 
Net loss on sale of non-current assets - 17,955 - 1,947 
Change in operating assets and liabilities      

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 379,916 29,737 361,825 3,416 
Decrease (increase) in other operating assets - 52,123 - 52,123 
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 432,176 (324,707) 451,804 (315,346) 
Increase (decrease) in borrowings - 60,915 - 60,915 

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities (2,891,875) (2,268,742) (2,890,263) (2,282,887) 

28 Non-cash investing and financing activities 
 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

Acquisition of Biotech Pty Limited via a scrip exchange - - - - 
Acquisition of intellectual property from The University of Sydney - 2,791,000 - 2,791,000 
 
The consideration for the intellectual property acquired from The University of Sydney was 17,142,857 ordinary shares of 
Medical Therapies Limited. 
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29 Earnings per share 
 Consolidated 
 2007 2006 

 
Cents Cents 

(a) Basic and diluted earnings per share 
  

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (8.18) (8.06) 
   

(b) Loss used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 

Loss (4,554,782) (2,760,092)  
(c) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator 

 Consolidated 
 2007 2006 

 
Number Number 

   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share 55,673,513 34,244,618 

   

(d) Information concerning the classification of securities 

(i) Options 
Options granted to executives and directors are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the 
determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive.  In the year ended 30 June 2007, these 
options were in fact anti-dilutive, and consequently diluted EPS is the same as basis EPS.  The options have not been 
included in the determination of basic earnings per share.  Details relating to the options are set out in note 30. 
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30 Share-based payments 

(a) Director and executive options 

The issuance of options to Directors and Executives was approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 29 April 2005.  

Options were granted for no consideration and are exercisable at $0.20.  Each option entitles the holder to one share in the 
Company.  Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. 

The Director options were granted and vested at the date of the Initial Public Offering.  They are exercisable at any time prior 
to 31 December 2007.   The fair value of these options of $196,000 has been recorded as share-based compensation in the 
year ended 30 June 2006. 

The Executive options were granted to the previous Managing Director (L Casbolt) in three tranches, and will only vest if the 
milestones as described below are attained. 

 

Tranche Milestone No. of 
options 

Fair value of 
options 

    

Tranche 1 On ASX listing 1,000,000 80,000 

    

Total  1,000,000 80,000 

 
The previous Managing Director (L Casbolt) options are exercisable any time prior to 31 December 2008.   

The fair value of the previous Managing Director (L Casbolt)’s options recognised as share-based compensation in the year 
ended 30 June 2006 is $133,000.  This amount comprises the $80,000 for the options which vested on ASX listing, and 
$53,000 for the proportion of the second and third tranches earned to 30 June 2006.   

The number of options granted are also summarised in note 20 Key Management Personnel Disclosures.  No options 
granted as share-based payments were forfeited or exercised during the periods covered by the tables in that note.  

The weighted average remaining contractual life of Director and Executive share options outstanding at the end of the period 
was 1.09 years. 

Fair value of options granted 
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2007 was 5 to 13 cents (2006: 7 to 9 
cents) per option. The fair value at grant date is determined using a binomial option pricing model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2007 included: 

(a) options are granted for no consideration 

(b) Exercise price: $0.18 to $0.30 (2006:$0.20) 

(c) grant date: 2 January 2007, 26 March 2007, (2006: 9 December 2005) 

(d) expiry date: 31 December 2007 for Director options, 31 December 2008 for Executive options and up to               
9 January 2009 for key management personnel. 

(e) share price at grant date: $0.165 to $0.235 (2006: $0.20) 

(f) expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 60 - 70% (2006: 60 – 70%)  

(g) expected dividend yield: nil% (2006: nil) 
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30 Share-based payments (continued) 
(h) risk-free interest rate: 5.72 to 5.92% (2006: 5.2%)  

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility of companies in the Australian biotechnology sector. 

(b) The University of Sydney Options 

The grant of options to The University of Sydney was approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 29 April 2005. 

Options were granted for no consideration and are exercisable at $0.20.  Each option entitles the holder to one share in the 
Company.  Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. 

These options were granted at the date of the Initial Public Offering.  They will vest when The University of Sydney attains 
certain milestones set out in the Research Agreement.  The two key milestones are the commencement of Phase 1 of FDA 
approved human trials for both oral and topical applications of Copper Indomethacin, and to complete mouse studies for at 
least one lead compound such that it is ready for clinical trials.  The University has up to two years from option grant date to 
attain these milestones.   

The options are exercisable for a period of two years from vesting date.  The remaining contractual life of these share 
options at the end of the period is estimated as 3.25 years. 

The fair value of these options has been assessed at $752,000.  The $239,000 expensed as share-based compensation in 
2006 represents the proportion earned to 30 June 2006. 

Fair value of options granted 
The assessed fair value at grant date of the options was as per that described under Director and Executive Options in (a), 
including the valuation approach and methodology.   

(c) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows: 

 Consolidated Parent entity 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 

 
$ $ $ $ 

     
Options issued to Directors and the previous Managing 
Director (L Casbolt) (53,001) ** 329,000 (53,001) 329,000 
Options issued to The University of Sydney 409,000 239,000 409,000 239,000 
Options issued to Fresh Capital 16,000  16,000  
Options issued to Executives 55,315 - 55,315 - 
 427,314 568,000 427,314 568,000 

 
  ** Options granted to the previous Managing Director Mr. L Casbolt did not vest following his resignation from the company.
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In the directors’ opinion: 

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 29 to 73 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

 (i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and 

 (ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 
June 07 and of their performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and 

(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 7 to 12 of the directors’ report comply with 
Accounting Standards AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 
 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required 
by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Michael Vitale 
Chairman 

  Sydney 
31 August 2007 
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